THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In the Supreme Court

RECEIVED

Feb 22 2022

APPEAL FROM CHARLESTON COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas

S.C. SUPREME COURT

J.C. Nicholson, Jr., Circuit Court Judge
Deadra L. Jefferson, Circuit Court Judge

Appellate Case No. 2021-000038

Opinion No. 2020-UP-225 (S.C. Ct. App. filed July 29, 2020)
Withdrawn, Substituted, Refiled December 23, 2020

Assistive Technology Medical Equipment Services, LLCRespondent,

v.

Hood and Selander CPAS, LLC, Donna S. Cash, as
Personal Representative for the Estate of Dorothy A.
Connelly, W.E. Applegate, III, as Personal
Representative of the Estate of James B. Connelly,
Kimberly Cuce, and Phillip DeClemente..... Defendants,

QUESTIONS PRESENTED

1. Did the Court of Appeals err in holding that Petitioner failed to demonstrate ‘good cause’ for relief, and did its Opinion conflict with *Sundown Operating Co. v. Intedge Industries Inc.*, 383 S.C. 601, 681 S.E.2d 885 (2009)?
 - a. Did the Court of Appeals err in failing to consider Petitioner’s “reasons why vacation of default entry would serve the interests of justice” in its ‘good cause’ analysis?
 - b. Did the Court of Appeals err in failing to acknowledge Petitioner’s Rule 60(b) factors and by applying a heightened standard rather than the mere ‘good cause’ standard for relief from entry of default?
2. Did the Court of Appeals err in affirming the denial of Petitioner’s Motion to Continue the damages hearing?
3. Did the Court of Appeals err in affirming the Circuit Court’s qualification of Art Bradham as an expert witness on damages?
4. Did the Court of Appeals err in failing to rule that the Damages Satisfaction provision of the parties’ Full and Final Release Agreement should have been considered and enforced at the damages hearing or by granting Petitioner’s Rule 59(e) Motion?
5. Did the Court of Appeals err in failing to address and rule on Petitioner’s Rule 60(b)(5) Motion for Relief from Judgment, as required by the Full and Final Release Agreement’s Damages Satisfaction provision?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

I. Factual Background

Reliable Medical Equipment of South Carolina (Reliable) is a durable medical equipment (DME) company in Sumter, South Carolina owned by Murrell Smith and Jeff Reed. (App. p.177, lines 16-22). In the spring of 2008, Smith and Reed were approached by Kimberly Cuce about an opportunity to expand Reliable's presence in the state through the acquisition of a Charleston DME company called Abacare Home Medical, Inc. (Abacare). (App. p.176, lines 22- p.177, lines 1-12). At this time, 20% of Abacare's stock was owned by Petitioner, Phillip DeClemente, and the remaining 80% was owned by the Estate of Dorothy Connelly.

Smith and Reed sought the assistance of Arthur "Art" Bradham¹ to conduct due diligence investigation of the potential acquisition of Abacare and determine Abacare's financial condition. (App. p.198 (p.134, lines 20- p.135, lines 1-2)). Bradham eventually advised Reed and Smith to proceed with the purchase of Abacare. For the purpose of acquiring Abacare, Reed and Smith created Respondent company, Assistive Technology Medical Equipment Services, LLC (ATMES) to serve as the new parent company of both Reliable and Abacare. (App. p.166, lines 14- p.167, lines 1-10). In November of 2008, Respondent ATMES executed a Stock Purchase and Assignment Agreement with Petitioner DeClemente and the Estate of Dorothy Connelly and acquired control of Abacare. (App. p.628). Reed, Smith, Cuce, and DeClemente each became equal 25% owners of the newly formed company ATMES. (App. p.182, lines 14-24).

On April 20, 2009 this Court issued an opinion in the case *Home Medical Systems, Inc. v. South Carolina Department of Revenue*, which reversed the Administrative Law Court's ruling

¹ Bradham is Respondent's accountant, Reliable's accountant, and both Reed and Smith's personal accountant. (App. 197 (pp. 118-119)).

that certain DME products were exempt from sales tax. 382 S.C. 556, 677 S.E.2d 582 (2009). As a result of the decision, Abacare and Reliable both incurred significant tax liability on past sales of previously tax-exempt DME products. (App. p.207 (Tr. p.181, lines 1- p.182, lines 1-14)).

In June of 2009, DeClemente sold his 25% ownership interest in ATMES back to the company through the execution of several sales documents, including a Bill of Sale and Transfer, Promissory Note, and Full and Final Release. (App. p.87-99). The Promissory Note was for the amount of \$265,000 plus interest at a rate of 12% annually to be paid to DeClemente in monthly payments of \$7,341.84. (App. p.87-89). A portion of the Promissory Note was personally guaranteed by both Reed and Smith. (App. p.90-91). The Full and Final Release required that ATMES ...

[R]elease, acquit, and forever discharge Phillip L. DeClemente ... from any and all claims, actions, causes of action, demands, rights, damages, costs, loss of services, expenses and compensation whatsoever which [Respondent] now has or which may have hereinafter accrue on account of or in any way growing out of any and all ownership interest or employment in any of the entities set forth above whether known or unknown, foreseen or unforeseen and any consequences thereof, resulting or to result from ownership of any of the Companies referenced-above, employment in or with any of the entities referenced-above, business relationship with any of the businesses or individuals referenced-above as well as any negotiation contracts or documents executed as a result of the sale of the business as referenced herein.

(App. p.96).

Following DeClemente's departure from ATMES, audits were performed on Abacare and Reliable. Both companies were assessed penalties for past-due taxes. Respondent subsequently claimed that Abacare had been under-reporting on its tax returns prior to the 2008 purchase. In the late summer of 2011, ATMES informed DeClemente, its former 25% owner, that if he did not sign an affidavit in support of its allegations, then ATMES would file suit against him. (App. pp.704-

706). DeClemente declined to sign the proposed false affidavit and was then named as a defendant in this lawsuit, among other defendants associated with the Abacare transaction.

II. Beginning of the Litigation

On October 31, 2011, ATMES filed suit in the Charleston County Court of Common Pleas against Kimberly Cuce, the Estate of Dorothy A. Connelly, the Estate of James B. Connelly, Hood & Selander, CPAS, LLC,² and Phillip DeClemente. (App. pp.39-54). ATMES' lawsuit asserts nine causes of action stemming from the allegation that, at the time ATMES purchased Abacare, the defendants failed to accurately disclose Abacare's pre-existing tax liability. *See* (App. pp.40-43). DeClemente was served with Respondent's lawsuit on December 1, 2011. (App. pp.9).

On February 2, 2012, DeClemente suffered an incapacitating psychiatric collapse and was twice involuntarily hospitalized, once after using his car to block the Ravenel Bridge in Charleston, South Carolina. (App pp.112-123). These hospitalizations were between February 2, 2012 and March 6, 2012. *Id.* ATMES filed an Affidavit of Default against Petitioner on March 30, 2012. (App. pp.61-62). After the hospitalizations, DeClemente continued intensive outpatient treatment until May of 2012. (App. p.226, lines 4-10). During this time period, DeClemente did not comprehend that he was required to file an Answer to the lawsuit he had received in December of 2011. (App. p.223, lines 19- p.225, lines 1-4).

On May 9, 2012, DeClemente hired undersigned counsel to represent him in ATMES' lawsuit against him and to collect the money ATMES owed him pursuant to the Promissory Note, of which it stood in breach. On May 14, 2012, the undersigned filed notice of appearance and asked the clerk of court to notify him of the default hearing date so that he could represent Petitioner at the hearing. (App. p.710). At the time counsel made his appearance, no entry of

² Hood & Selander, CPAS, LLC (Hood & Selander) did accounting work for Abacare prior to the time it was purchased by ATMES.

default had been made by the clerk of court; nor was one ever made by the clerk. (App. p.213, lines 18-24).

On June 8, 2012, the undersigned sent a letter to ATMES' co-owner, Murrell Smith, requesting payment of the \$59,571.45 arrearage owed to DeClemente under the Promissory Note, and requesting that ATMES' monthly payments be resumed. (App. p.771). On June 12, 2012, the undersigned received a letter from Smith stating that DeClemente was in default in the lawsuit ATMES had filed against him and other defendants, and that any money owed to DeClemente would be set-off from any judgment awarded to Respondent at the damages hearing. (App. pp.85-86).

III. Default Proceedings

DeClemente filed his Answer to ATMES' lawsuit and Motion for Enlargement of Time to Answer, along with his counterclaims and cross-claims, contemporaneously on August 10, 2012. (App. pp.62-78). A default hearing was initially scheduled for September 22, 2012. However, because of six continuances requested by ATMES' counsel, and granted by the Circuit Court, the default hearing was not held until December 16, 2013 – over sixteen months after Petitioner requested to be heard on relief from default. (App. pp. 712-713). On November 5, 2013, Petitioner filed a Memorandum in Support of his Motion for Enlargement of Time to Answer. (App. pp.80-83).

On December 16, 2013, Circuit Judge J.C. Nicholson, Jr. heard oral argument on Petitioner's Motion for Relief from Default. (App. p.210). During this hearing, DeClemente argued that good cause for relief existed due to (a) DeClemente's involuntary hospitalization and subsequent outpatient treatment for severe psychiatric illness; (b) DeClemente's several meritorious defenses to ATMES' lawsuit, including the Full and Final Release, which bars the

lawsuit; and (c) the lack of prejudice to ATMES in allowing DeClemente to defend on the merits. (App. pp.216-232; p.249, lines 1- p.250, lines 1-22). Judge Nicholson took Petitioner's Motion for Enlargement of Time under advisement.

On April 30, 2014, Judge Nicholson issued a written Order denying Petitioner's Motion and entering default judgment against him. (App. pp.7-11). Petitioner filed a Motion for Reconsideration on May 5, 2014, (App. 130), which was denied by Form-4 Order on May 7, 2014. DeClemente gave notice of his intent to appeal the default order, but the appeal was dismissed by the appellate court as premature. (App. pp.12-13, 131). ATMES subsequently moved for a hearing to assess damages.

IV. Damages Proceedings

At the time ATMES' Motion for Damages Hearing was pending before the circuit court, DeClemente was prohibited from leaving the State of Florida without a date-specific Travel Order signed by a South Carolina Circuit Court Judge stating that his presence was required in the State of South Carolina for a court proceeding. (App. pp.352-353). On October 27, 2016, DeClemente's counsel obtained a Travel Order for October 31, 2016, after receiving notice that ATMES' Motion for Damages Hearing would be heard on that date. (App. p.15). On October 28, 2016, Petitioner's counsel received notice from the Charleston County Clerk of Court's Office that Respondent's Motion for Damages Hearing had been rescheduled for November 1, 2016. However, at that time there was unresolved dispute as to whether Petitioner was entitled to a jury trial on damages. As a result of this issue, the Clerk of Court informed Petitioner's counsel that the damages hearing would not be held on November 1st, and instead the court would hear argument on DeClemente's motion to have damages decided by a jury. (App. pp.351-352).

On November 1, 2016, DeClemente's counsel appeared at the hearing and explained to Circuit Judge Jefferson the reason DeClemente was not in attendance was that the clerk of court, on short notice, had rescheduled the October 31st hearing date to November 1st, not permitting sufficient time to obtain a travel order and obtain permission from the Florida Department of Probation for DeClemente to travel. (App. p.353, lines 23-25; p. 354, lines 7-12; p.358, lines 7-11; p.360, lines 1-8), Counsel further informed the court that the clerk had stated that instead of a damages hearing, the court would hear DeClemente's motion for a jury trial on damages. (App. p.350, lines 22- p.351, lines 1-19). The court denied DeClemente's motion for a jury trial, ruled that the clerk did not have authority to reschedule the damages hearing, and ordered that the damages hearing commence immediately. (App. p.351, lines 20- p.352, lines 1-15; p.384, lines 1-25). The court denied counsel's motion for continuance and overruled Petitioner's counsel's objection to the hearing proceeding in his client's absence. (App. p.386, lines 18-20; p.387, lines 14-22).

At the hearing, ATMES called its own Certified Public Accountant, Arthur Bradham, as an expert witness on damages. (App. p.387). Counsel's objection to Bradham's qualification as an expert was overruled. (App. p.392, lines 5-14).³ ATMES also called Murrell Smith, DeClemente's ex-business partner in ATMES, to testify at the damages hearing. (App. p.437). In an effort to mitigate its decision to conduct the damages hearing in DeClemente's absence, the court stated that it would reconvene the damages hearing at a later date and allow DeClemente to testify and to supplement the record with evidence addressing damages. (App. p.379, lines 3-8).

³ During cross-examination of Bradham, the court sustained all objections made in response to counsel's questioning concerning Bradham's credibility, bias, and conflicts of interest. (App. p.414, lines 2-21; p.419, lines 13- p.22; p.422, lines 25- p.423, lines 1-10; p.427, lines 14-21).

The damages hearing was reconvened on January 5, 2017. (App. p.464). DeClemente and ATMES co-owner Jeffrey Reed both testified at this hearing. (App. p.476; p.541) On January 24, 2017, DeClemente filed a Supplemental Motion to Consider Evidence of Damages, Adopt Proposed Order and Reconvene Damages Hearing. (App. pp.150-156). On July 27, 2017, Judge Jefferson held a status conference and ruled that she would allow DeClemente to re-open and supplement the record on damages, introduce expert testimony and schedule a deposition. (App. p.16-17). DeClemente filed the expert affidavit of Ronald H. Burkett, CPA, CVA on August 23, 2017, (App. pp.157-159), and Mr. Burkett was deposed by the parties on September 14th, (App. p.553).

On December 20, 2017, the circuit court issued a written Order awarding ATMES damages in the amount of \$875,144.00 – the exact amount opined by Bradham. (App. pp.19-31). On January 8, 2018, DeClemente moved to Amend Judgment and be Relieved from Judgment. (App. pp.161-162). This Motion requested that the judgment be amended and marked as “satisfied” pursuant to the damages satisfaction clause of the parties’ binding Release Agreement. *Id.* Judge Jefferson denied this Motion by written Order on January 26, 2018. (App. pp.32-35).

V. Appellate Proceedings

DeClemente served ATMES with Notice of Appeal on March 2, 2018, and it was filed on March 14, 2018. (App. p.163). Briefing was completed in December, 2018. (App. pp.715-757; pp.758-772; pp.773-782). On July 29, 2020, the Court of Appeals issued a dispositional Opinion without oral argument, ruling against DeClemente on all issues presented. (App. pp.783-755). On September 14, 2020, DeClemente filed a Petition for Rehearing and Suggestion for Rehearing *En Banc*. (App. pp.786-806). On December 23, 2020, the Court of Appeals granted DeClemente’s Petition, withdrew its previous Opinion, and refiled a Substitute Opinion without oral argument.

(App. p.809). The Appellate Court’s Substitute Opinion was identical to its withdrawn Opinion except for an additional small paragraph affirming the circuit court’s rulings during the damages hearings. (App. pp.811-814).

DeClemente filed his Petition for a Writ of Certiorari on February 26, 2021. (App. pp.815-838). ATMES filed its Return on April 19, 2021, three-weeks past its deadline, (App. pp.839-844), to which DeClemente filed his Reply on May 6, 2021, (App. pp.846-853). This Court granted DeClemente’s Petition on all Questions Presented on January 23, 2022.

STANDARD OF REVIEW

The standard of review for all questions presented herein is abuse of discretion.

“The decision whether to set aside an entry of default or a default judgment lies solely in the discretion of the trial judge. The trial court’s decision will not be disturbed on appeal absent a clear showing of an abuse of that discretion. An abuse of discretion occurs when the judge issuing the order was controlled by some error of law or when the order, based upon factual, as distinguished from legal conclusions, is entirely without evidentiary support.” *Sundown Operating Co., Inc. v. Intedge Industries, Inc.*, 383 S.C. 601, 606-7, 681 S.E.2d 885, 888 (2009) (internal citations omitted).

Motions for continuances fall within the sound discretion of the trial judge, and are only reviewable when “it clearly appears that there was an abuse of discretion to the prejudice of the appellant.” *Williams v. Bordon’s, Inc.*, 274 S.C. 275, 262 S.E.2d 881 (1980); *see also, Plyer v. Burns*, 373 S.C. 637, 647 S.E.2d 188 (2007) (stating the denial of a continuance is reviewable “only when an abuse of discretion appears from the record”).

The circuit court’s qualification of an expert, and the admission or exclusion of his or her testimony, may not be disturbed absent abuse of discretion. *Fields v. Reg’l Med. Ctr. Orangeburg*,

363 S.C. 19, 26, 609 S.E.2d 506, 509 (2005) “A trial court’s ruling on the admissibility of an expert’s testimony constitutes an abuse of discretion when the ruling is manifestly arbitrary, unreasonable, or unfair.” *Id.* To justify reversal, the appealing party must show both the error of the ruling and its resulting prejudice. *Id.*

“The power to open, modify or vacate a judgment is possessed solely by the court that rendered the judgment.” *Coleman v. Dunlap*, 306 S.C. 491, 413 S.E.2d 15 (1992). Therefore, decisions on motions seeking relief from judgment are reviewed for abuse of discretion. *See Saro Investments v. Ocean Holiday Partnership*, 314 S.C. 116, 124, 441 S.E.2d 835, 840 (Ct. App. 1994).

ARGUMENT

I. The Court of Appeals erred in holding that Petitioner failed to demonstrate ‘good cause’ for relief from entry of default, and this error conflicts with the holding in *Sundown Operating Co., Inc. v. Intedg Industries, Inc.*, 383 S.C. 601, 681 S.E.2d 885 (2009).

This Court has granted review on all questions presented in the Petition for a Writ of Certiorari. Each of these questions highlights errors made by the lower courts; but, this Court need go no further than Petitioner’s first question to reach a just disposition of the case at bar.

Rule 55(c) of the South Carolina Rules of Civil Procedure provides that circuit courts may set aside an entry of default for good cause shown. Prior to this Court’s decision in *Sundown*, circuit courts applied what are known as the “*Wham* factors” in determining the existence of good cause for relief from default entry under Rule 55(c). Those factors are: (1) the timing of the defendant’s motion for relief; (2) whether the defendant has a meritorious defense; and (3) the degree of prejudice to the plaintiff if relief is granted. *Wham v. Shearson Lehman Bros., Inc.*, 298 S.C. 462, 465, 381 S.E.2d 535, 501-502 (Ct. App. 1989) (citing 10 C. Wright, A. Miller, and M. Kane, *Federal Practice and Procedure: Civil 2d*, § 2694 at 494 (1983)). In 2009, Chief Justice

Toal wrote for the majority in *Sundown Operating Co., Inc., v. Intedge Industries, Inc.* and took the opportunity to address “confusion in the case law regarding the application of the standards for relief set forth in Rule 55(c) and Rule 60(b).” 383 S.C. 601, 607, 681 S.E.2d 885, 888 (2009). The *Sundown* opinion provided two important developments that now govern the circuit court’s disposition of Rule 55(c) motions for relief from entry of default.

First, *Sundown* added a threshold inquiry to Rule 55(c) analysis. Prior to proceeding to consideration of the *Wham* factors, the moving party is required to (1) provide an explanation for the default; and (2) give reasons why vacation of default entry would serve the interests of justice. *Sundown*, 681 S.E.2d at 888. Consideration of *both* threshold factors is mandatory.

Second, this Court affirmed “that the criteria for obtaining relief from default judgment under 60(b) – mistake, excusable neglect, surprise, newly discovered evidence, fraud, misrepresentation – are relevant in determining whether good cause has been shown under Rule 55(c), SCRCP.” *Sundown*, 681 S.E.2d at 889 (citing *New Hampshire Ins. Co. v. Bey Corp.*, 312 S.C. 47, 50, 435 S.E.2d 377, 378-79 (Ct. App. 1993) (holding that, “as a practical matter,” the 60(b) factors are relevant under both rules)). However, *Sundown* made clear that Rule 60(b)’s heightened standard for relief should not be applied by circuit courts when considering the existence of Rule 60(b) factors on a motion for relief from entry of default. *Id.* Proof of any single Rule 60(b) factor “is sufficient to show good cause” and entitles the movant to relief from default entry. *Id.*

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