THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
In the Supreme Court

**RECEIVED**

**Apr 12 2022**

APPEAL FROM CHARLESTON COUNTY  
Court of Common Pleas

**S.C. SUPREME COURT**

J.C. Nicholson Jr., Circuit Court Judge  
Deadra L. Jefferson, Circuit Court Judge

Case No. 2011-CP-10-08011

Appellate Case No. 2021-000038

Opinion No. 2020-UP-225 (S.C. Ct. App. Filed July 29, 2020)

Withdrawn, Substituted, Refiled December 23, 2020

Assistive Technology Medical Equipment Services, LLC.....Respondent

v.

Hood and Selander CPAS, LLC, Donna S. Cash, as Personal Representative for the Estate of  
Dorothy A. Connelly, W.E. Applegate, III, as Personal Representative of the Estate of James B.

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

## **ARGUMENT**

Petitioner presents a multitude of issues to the Court in hopes of distracting the Court from the simple, straightforward issues in this case. First, did Judge Nicholson abuse his discretion? Second, did Judge Jefferson abuse her discretion? The answer to both is plainly, “no.” The circuit court’s reasoning was grounded in the controlling law and the record. This Court should dismiss the writ of certiorari as improvidently granted or affirm the Court of Appeals’ decision.

### **I. The Court of Appeals correctly held the circuit court, in compliance with this Court’s precedent in *Sundown*, did not abuse its broad discretion in finding that Petitioner failed to demonstrate good cause for relief from entry of default judgment.**

Petitioner claims the Court of Appeals erred in holding that Petitioner failed to demonstrate good cause for relief from entry of default and that this holding conflicts with this Court’s decision

in *Sundown*. (Pet. Br. 10-20). Petitioner’s argument is without merit. Petitioner failed to show good cause, and there is certainly no conflict between the lower courts’ decisions and *Sundown*.

A decision whether to set aside an entry of default or a default judgment lies solely within the sound discretion of the circuit court. *Harbor Island Owners’ Ass’n v. Preferred Island Props., Inc.*, 369 S.C. 540, 544, 633 S.E.2d 497, 499 (2006). A circuit court’s decision will not be disturbed on appeal absent a clear showing of an abuse of that discretion. *Mitchell Supply Co., Inc. v. Gaffney*, 297 S.C. 160, 162-63, 375 S.E.2d 321, 322-23 (Ct. App. 1988).

In *Sundown*, this Court issued an opinion detailing the standards for relief in default judgment matters to rectify “confusion in the case law.” 383 S.C. at 607, 681 S.E.2d at 888. Rule 55(c) of the South Carolina Rules of Civil Procedure grants power to the courts to set aside an entry of default. However, this empowerment requires the defaulting party to show “good cause.” Rule 55(c), SCRPC. “This standard requires a party seeking relief from an entry of default under Rule 55(c) to provide an explanation for the default and give reasons why vacation of the default entry would serve the interests of justice.” *Sundown*, 383 S.C. at 607, 681 S.E.2d at 888. “Once a party has put forth a satisfactory explanation for the default, the trial court must also consider: (1) the timing of the motion for relief; (2) whether the defendant has a meritorious defense; and (3) the degree of prejudice to the plaintiff if relief is granted.” *Id.* at 607-08, 681 S.E.2d at 888. Importantly, the *Sundown* Court made certain, “The trial court need not make specific findings of fact for each factor if there is sufficient evidentiary support on the record for the finding of the lack of good cause.” *Id.* at 608, 681 S.E.2d at 888. “The Rule 60(b) factors are . . . relevant to a Rule 55(c) analysis, but only inasmuch as proof of any one of these factors is sufficient to show “good cause.” *Id.* at 608, 681 S.E.2d at 889.

## A. Timeline

The circuit court correctly held Petitioner failed to show good cause. A brief recap of the timeline in this case is helpful. Respondent filed its Summons and Complaint on October 31, 2011. (Appx. 36-54). The Summons directed Petitioner to file an Answer within 30 days after service, and if Petitioner failed to do so, “judgment by default will be rendered against you for the relief demanded in the complaint.” (Appx. 37). On December 1, 2011, the Complaint was duly served on Petitioner.<sup>10</sup> (Appx. 8). This made Petitioner’s Answer due January 2, 2012. Petitioner did not Answer. Petitioner was also served personally by a process server on January 6, 2012. (Appx. 59). Petitioner still did not Answer at this time, despite the fact that another lawyer had been assisting Petitioner in the matter for quite some time. Petitioner acknowledged that he had a different law firm “working on this issue.” (Appx. 224). These findings have never been challenged and are the law of the case.

On February 2, 2012, Petitioner was involuntarily admitted into MUSC Psychiatric Center for his mental health and was discharged from care on February 15, 2012. (Appx. 101, 112-13). Petitioner was admitted again to the psychiatric center on February 22, 2012, and was discharged from care on March 5, 2012. (Appx. 107, 112-13). Respondent was cognizant of Petitioner’s treatment. To be sure, Respondent has never obscured this fact, and this fact was the reason Respondent waited until March 30, 2012, to file an Affidavit of Default against Petitioner.<sup>11</sup> (Appx. 61-62). However, Petitioner still failed to file an Answer.

---

<sup>10</sup> In his brief, Petitioner admits that service occurred on December 1, 2011. (Pet. Br. 4).

<sup>11</sup> Petitioner has never filed an Affidavit of a physician declaring that he was incompetent prior to his hospitalization, during his hospitalization, or following his release, despite being prompted by the circuit court. (Appx. 223, 225).

Another month went by, and Petitioner subsequently engaged his current Counsel in May of 2012. On May 14, 2012, over six months since the Complaint had been served on Petitioner, Counsel for Petitioner, notified the circuit court that he was representing Petitioner. (Appx. 710). There was still no attempt to provide an Answer or to file any motion contesting default or to set aside default. Finally, three months after Counsel for Petitioner's initial letter of representation, on **August 10, 2012**, a motion requesting enlargement of the time to file an Answer was filed. (Appx. 63). On August 22, 2012, Petitioner filed an Amended Answer, along with counterclaims and crossclaims. (Appx. 65).

### **B. Judge Nicholson's Ruling and the Court of Appeals Decision**

Judge Nicholson heard Petitioner's motion for enlargement of time to answer and Respondent's arguments for default judgment on December 16, 2013. (Appx. 7, 210). Judge Nicholson issued a well-reasoned order denying Petitioner's motion in April 2014. (Appx. 7-11). Judge Nicholson began his order by discussing Rule 55 of the South Carolina Rules of Civil Procedure and by discussing this Court's decision in *Sundown*. He ruled in pertinent part:

After reviewing the supplemental affidavits and considering arguments of counsel and the Court record, I find that Defendant DeClemente was properly served with the Complaint on December 1, 2011. I find pursuant to supplemental affidavits and representations at the hearing, Defendant DeClemente knew he had to answer the Complaint and had the benefit of counsel in around the time he was served with the Complaint. However, I find that DeClemente demonstrated "good cause" pursuant to Rule 55(c) throughout his hospitalization, which was ongoing until sometime in May 2012. However, good cause did not exist from the time DeClemente obtained counsel in May 2012 to the time DeClemente filed Defendant's Motion to Enlarge Time and Answer Counterclaims on August 10, 2012. I find that the timing of motion for relief was not prompt. Defendant DeClemente's Motion to Extend Time and/or Relief from Default pursuant to Rule 55(c) is DENIED.

(Appx. 10).

The Court of Appeals affirmed Judge Nicholson’s ruling in an unpublished decision. *See Assistive Tech. Med. Equip. Servs., LLC v. Hood & Selander, CPAS, LLC*, 2020-UP-225 (Ct. App. 2020).

\* \* \*

Neither of the lower courts committed reversible error. A party must give a good explanation for being in default. Petitioner failed to do so, and he cannot demonstrate an abuse of the circuit court’s discretion. *First*, there were no errors of law. The lower courts cited Rule 55(c), accurately discussed this Court’s decision in *Sundown*, and correctly listed the factors the court was required to consider in determining “good cause.” Nothing about the lower court’s legal analysis was incorrect. *Second*, the factual analysis is accurate and sound. The circuit court found Petitioner demonstrated “good cause” during his hospitalization, but the court also found Petitioner did not have good cause for failing to answer or otherwise defend the lawsuit from May 2012 to August 2012. (Appx. 10). Indeed, this finding is sensible, and the Court of Appeals agreed.

Moreover, based on Judge Nicholson’s Order that Petitioner had “good cause” during his hospitalization, it is difficult to understand why there was not an immediate motion to have default set aside in May on the basis of his hospitalization. An Answer with a general denial could have easily been attached to a motion along with an explanation that further defenses would be forthcoming after time for an adequate investigation. Yet, inexplicably, nothing was filed from May to August.<sup>12</sup> In fact, Counsel for Petitioner’s letter to the Court on May 14, 2012, shows that

---

<sup>12</sup> Petitioner has constantly argued that the “case was complex”; however, Petitioner did not communicate with Respondent’s Counsel the need for additional time to file his motion nor did he file a Motion to Set Aside Default. *See Wilke*, 330 S.C. at 76, 497 S.E.2d at 733 (“[A]n issue cannot be raised for the first time on appeal . . .”). Failure to communicate with Respondent’s counsel was in direct violation with Rule 11, SCRPC. “All motions filed shall contain an affirmation that the movant’s counsel prior to filing the motion has communicated, orally or in writing, with opposing counsel and has attempted in good faith to resolve the matter contained in

Petitioner and his counsel were aware he was in default and did not express any intention to obtain relief from default. Instead, Counsel for Petitioner's letter merely expressed an intent to defend against default damages. There is certainly no abuse of discretion in finding there was no good reason why Petitioner failed to defend the suit for three months. There comes a time in which a parties' complete disregard to pending litigation does not support vacation of an entry of default judgment.

Furthermore, another part of the circuit court's order is important, because although the circuit court's analysis was grounded in the lack of a good reason for the delay in action from May 2012 to August 2012, the circuit court's order also explains other detrimental facts that came to light during the hearing on Petitioner's motion for enlargement of time. As noted above, the hearing disclosed another lawyer had been assisting Petitioner *before* his hospitalization and *before* he retained his current counsel. The circuit court noted that the language on the summons was clear, and the court ultimately found Petitioner knew he had to answer the Complaint and that he had the benefit of counsel around the time he was served with the Complaint. In fact, this Court can affirm because Petitioner did not have good cause in failing to answer the Complaint by January 1, 2012. Petitioner has admitted he was served with the Complaint on December 1, 2011, making his responsive pleading due by January 1, 2012. (Pet. Br. 4). Although Petitioner was involuntarily hospitalized on February 2, 2012, this hospitalization—which occurred a month after his responsive pleading was due—does not give Petitioner good cause for failing to respond in a timely manner. Petitioner did not offer any evidence to the circuit court that his mental illness prevented him from fully understanding the realities of this action and that he needed to file a

---

the motion, unless the movant's counsel certifies that consultation would serve no useful purpose or could not be timely held.” Rule 11, SCRCP.

responsive pleading to the Complaint that was served on him on December 1, 2011. Petitioner did not offer any testimony from his medical doctors indicating that his illness was present during the timeframe or that it would have prevented him from understanding he needed to file a responsive pleading. Instead, the record shows the opposite is true as Petitioner was consulting with counsel during this time about the Complaint. (Appx. 706). Thus, the Court may affirm the circuit court because Petitioner failed to meet his burden to show that he had good cause for failing to timely respond during the operative time period—December 1, 2011, to January 1, 2012, an entire month before his first hospitalization. This Court can affirm the lower court’s decision for any reason appearing in the record. *See* Rule 220(c), SCACR (“The appellate court may affirm any ruling, order, decision or judgment upon any ground(s) appearing in the Record on Appeal.”).

The lower courts’ decisions are in accord with existing precedent. Multiple cases confirm that a circuit court has the discretion to let default stand when the default stems from inattentiveness or neglect. *Regions Bank v. Owens*, 402 S.C. 642, 648-49, 741 S.E.2d 51, 54-55 (Ct. App. 2013) (holding some evidence supported the circuit court’s finding that a party did not take adequate steps to protect himself); *Dixon v. Besco Eng’g*, 320 S.C. 174, 463 S.E.2d 636 (Ct. App. 1995) (upholding a finding of default when a lawyer mistakenly believed he had been given an unlimited extension to answer); *Williams v. Vanvolkenburg*, 312 S.C. 373, 375, 440 S.E.2d 408, 409 (Ct. App. 1994) (holding a lawyer’s negligence in failing to answer is imputed to the client); *Mitchell Supply Co.*, 297 S.C. at 164-65, 375 S.E.2d at 324 (same). Indeed, it would be difficult to reconcile a decision reversing the circuit court supported with precedent. When construing the statutory predecessor to Rule 55, this Court explained the discretionary power to grant relief from default:

is vested in the trial, not the appellate, court. In an appeal from such an order of the circuit court it is not our function, nor is it within our

power, to substitute our judgment for that of the circuit judge simply because we might have reached a different conclusion had we been in his place.

*Williams v. Ray*, 232 S.C. 373, 381, 102 S.E.2d 368, 372 (1958).

Petitioner accuses the Court of Appeals and the circuit court in failing to comply with *Sundown*. (Pet. Br. 10-20). *First*, Petitioner argues the lower courts failed to consider Petitioner’s “reasons why vacation of default entry would serve the interests of justice.” (Pet. Br. 12-15). *Second*, Petitioner argues that the lower courts failed to acknowledge Petitioner’s Rule 60(b) factors and failing to apply “the correct, mere ‘good cause’ standard for relief from default entry.” (Pet. Br. 17-20). Essentially, Petitioner accuses the lower courts of fundamentally misapplying *Sundown*; however, Respondent encourages the Court to review Petitioner’s arguments and briefing to the Court of Appeals (which significantly misread and misapply *Sundown*) and the shifting/evolving of arguments that are now before this Court. Preservation concerns abound.

As to Petitioner’s first argument. *Sundown* mandates a party seeking relief from an entry of default under Rule 55(c) to (1) provide an explanation for the default and (2) give reasons why vacation of the default entry would serve the interests of justice. 383 S.C. at 607, 681 S.E.2d at 888-89. Petitioner attempts to impute error on the lower courts by complaining that the magic words of “reasons why vacation of default entry would serve the interests of justice” were not used in the court’s analysis. This is a red-herring. The lower courts cited to the specific language in *Sundown* and considered whether there was an explanation for default and whether there were reasons why vacation of the default entry would serve the interests of justice. The lower courts simply found that Petitioner did not meet this burden and concluded the explanation for the default was not satisfactory.<sup>13</sup> The lower courts’ analysis and application of *Sundown* is sound.

---

<sup>13</sup> Petitioner’s brief to the Court of Appeals focuses exclusively on the *Wham* factors. However, the *Wham* factors do not even come into play until after the explanation is accepted by the court.

Interestingly, *Sundown* was cited only once in Petitioner’s briefing to the Court of Appeals, and it was not cited for the proposition that Petitioner now champions. Petitioner’s argument—albeit without merit—is still evolving and flies in the face of preservation rules. *Herron v. Century BMW*, 395 S.C. 461, 470, 719 S.E.2d 640, 645 (2011) (noting issue preservation rules prevent a party from keeping an “ace card” up his sleeve, in the hope that an appellate court will accept that “ace card” and give him another opportunity to prove his case).

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